IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, a State Agency, and LAWRENCE FUCHS, Executive Director of the Department of Revenue, State of Florida. SID J. WHITE OCT 27 1995

Petitioners,

VS.

SHARE INTERNATIONAL, INC.,

Respondent.

PETITIONERS', FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE'S, AND LAWRENCE FUCH'S INITIAL BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ERIC J. TAYLOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 337609

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL State of Florida The Capitol, Special Projects Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 904/488-5899 904/488-6589 (FAX)

Counsel for Petitioners

ELIZABETH T. BRADSHAW ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 833274

THIS COURT NEEDS TO REVIEW AND REVERSE THE DECISION BELOW^{1/}

This case is of great public importance to the State of Florida and the Florida Department of Revenue. This case concerns the State's ability to require an out-ofstate vendor of tangible personal property to collect and remit the Florida Sales and/or Use Tax. The direct issue is whether physical presence in Florida, with the conscious intent and activity to exploit the Florida market, creates "substantial nexus" with Florida. In <u>Scripto, Inc. v. Carson</u>, 105 So. 2d 775 (Fla. 1958), <u>affirmed</u>, 362 U.S. 207 (1960), this Court found nexus where there existed in Florida physical presence of the vendor coupled with business activity to exploit the local market.

The District Court below, while acknowledging Share International, Inc.'s, physical presence and business activities in Florida, found no nexus with Florida and issued a final opinion in direct conflict with <u>Scripto</u> and United States Supreme Court decisions. The Department has relied upon <u>Scripto</u> and other Supreme Court cases for years and now the Department's entire administration of sales tax vendors is in confusion. Share is not the only vendor who physically enters Florida and then continues post-presence sales with Florida customers.

The Legislature has authorized the taxation of tangible personal property ("TPP") at retail in Section 212.05, Florida Statutes, which states:

¹/ This court has jurisdiction to review this case pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii) [as the District Court affirmed a lower court declaring a statute invalid]; Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v) [the district Court certified an issue of great public importance]; and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) [the decision of the District Court directly and expressly conflicts with a decision of this Court on the same question of law], Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

It is hereby declared to be the legislative intent that every person is exercising a taxable privilege who engages in the business ²/ of selling tangible personal property at retail in this state . . . For the exercise of said privilege a tax is levied on **each taxable transaction or incidence**. (e.s.)

<u>See also, Gaulden v. Kirk</u>, 47 So. 2d 567, 573 (Fla. 1950). The tax applies to each "sale," a "sale" being defined in Section 212.02(16)(a), Florida Statutes, as "any transfer of title or possession, or both, exchange, barter, license, lease, rental, conditional or otherwise, in any manner or by any means whatsoever, of tangible personal property for a consideration." The tax applies at the moment the sale occurs, whether the sale takes 3 seconds or 3 days. The tax of 6% is computed on the "sales price" of each item sold. Section 212.05(1)(a)1.a., Florida Statutes. The tax on the privilege to do business is also applied to each item as it is "used" in Florida where no sales tax was previously paid to the State. Section 212.05(1)(b), Florida Statutes. ³/ The sales or use tax is imposed on the purchaser with the collection duty being placed upon the vendor. Section 212.07(1)(a), Florida Statutes.

There are various forms of direct marketing, or "mail order sales," engaged in by American businesses. The most common forms or classes are:

1. "Pure" mail order - these are vendors who do their entire commercial marketing via the U.S. Mails, common carrier, 1-800 telephone services, telemarketing, magazines or television. These vendors do not physically enter the taxing jurisdiction in any manner. Their sales solicitation is done

³/ "Use" being defined as the "exercise of any right or power over tangible personal property incident to ownership thereof, or interest therein, . . ." Section 212.02(21), Florida Statutes.



²/ "Business" being defined as "any activity engaged in by any person, or caused to be engaged in by him, with the object of private or public gain, benefit, or advantage, either direct or indirect. Section 212.02(2), Florida Statutes.

strictly by the above-stated means from their home state. To be crystal clear, this case is **not** about this class of foreign vendor. Florida is not attempting in any way to impose its sales tax collections requirements on this type of vendor,

- 2. Foreign, or out-of-state, vendors who travel into a state on a schedule set by the company to meet their business needs. The company is physically present in the state to sell directly to customers, attend trade shows, fairs or conventions. These firms then engage in post-presence forms of direct marketing to further solicit sales from state residents, having acquired some of the residents names from their presence in the state;
- Out-of-state vendor who employees local residents, as representatives or independent contractors, to offer and sell their samples and merchandise. They too later engage in post-presence solicitation of the state's residents; and
- 4. Out-of-state vendors which have established both local retail outlets in a state and separate, dedicated mail order departments. Classic examples from the United States Supreme Court have been Sears, J.C. Penneys and Montgomery Ward.

Class #1 is not subject to the Florida sales tax collection requirements. And

class #1, pure mail order sales, is **not** the subject of this case. This case does **not**

have as a taxpayer a vendor who did not have physical presence in Florida.

Classes #2, #3 and #4 are clearly subject to Florida's collection of sales and use

tax requirements set out in Chapter 212, Florida Statutes. These classes collect sales

taxes on their mail order sales to Florida because they know they have established a

physical presence in Florida.

This case is solely about Class #2 and a particular vendor falling into Class #2.

These are the vendors who come to Florida using salespersons that are residents of other states. These vendors physically enter Florida for varying amounts of time. But while these vendors are in Florida, they offer, solicit, display, sell, install or service the foreign vendor's goods to the Florida market. These vendors attend various events where customers are drawn. These foreign vendors make a living out of the Florida sales. The Florida market, and its profitability, is what keeps bringing them back to Florida. However, when they return to their home state and continue their post - presence solicitation and sale of their products to Florida customers, these vendors **refuse** to collect the Florida sales tax on these sales. The United States Supreme Court's and this Court's decisions require this class of vendors to collect the Florida sales tax.

This case is of vital importance to the fiscal health of the State. First, this State relies heavily on sales and use taxes, both state and locally imposed, to operate the governmental functions of the State. These sales tax financed functions include the schools, social services, prisons, parks, judicial system and others. To have this flow of money unnecessarily disrupted by an interpretation of the law that does not comport with decisions of the United States Supreme Court jeopardizes the fiscal health of the State as a whole.

Florida is now the fourth largest state in America. We also have a great number of visitors each year. Out-of-state vendors want to tap into this large market by coming to the State at selected times to sell their goods. These foreign vendors physically come to trade shows, fairs and conventions. But they also continue to sell to the Florida market via various telecommunication and mailing methods after they have gone home. Some of the vendors physically enter Florida by employees or representatives with the company's samples and merchandise and some just physically

send samples and unsold merchandise for display or sale. Affirming the decision below would immunize from Florida tax collection all those foreign vendors who physically come into Florida to exploit the Florida market at trade shows, fairs and conventions and then continue, *post-presence*, to exploit the Florida market from other places in the United States. To so immunize these vendors would cause the loss of tremendous tax revenues now being received.

Second, there is a fairness issue. Vendors domiciled in Florida must collect the Florida sales tax on goods they sell in the State, even when that merchandise is ordered out of Florida for Florida delivery. Why should there be a 6% advantage to vendors who physically enter the State for a period of time but then leave and sell to Florida residents the remainder of the time? There should not. This 6% price incentive does cause residents to avoid Florida vendors and buy out-of-state. This not only effects tax revenues, it affects the health of the Florida retail businesses, their owners and the employees working in the local stores. As part of the fairness issue, it places a greater tax burden on those buying in state to fund the necessary services. And one cannot argue that vendors like Share do not receive services while they are present in the State. These vendors, and their customers, have the protection of police and fire, drive on the roads and receive a host of other governmental services.

The United States Supreme Court has never wavered from its position that interstate commerce has the duty to collect taxes due or to pay its fair share of local

taxes.⁴/ That is all the Department is asserting here. Share physically came into Florida, brought its inventory in to the State and sold its goods here. Share has the duty to collect the sales taxes as part of its responsibility in choosing to engage in interstate commerce.

Of importance to this issue, and all the cases discussing nexus, is that the decision to physically enter Florida rests solely in the hands of the **vendor**. The State has no part in the decision whether or not a vendor physically enters Florida with its employees or goods. Florida only reacts when physical presence occurs. But once a vendor makes its decision to enter Florida and actually enters Florida, the vendor is bound by its decision and the effect of its decision as mandated by the United States Supreme Court.

The United States Supreme Court held that in order for a state to be able to impose this collection duty on a vendor, the company would have to be shown that it established "substantial nexus" with the taxing state. <u>Quill Corporation v. North Dakota</u>, 504 U.S. 298, 112 S.Ct. 1904 (1992). The Court defined "substantial nexus" as physical presence in the taxing jurisdiction. <u>Id.</u> Share unquestionably had physical presence in Florida and yet the First District Court of Appeal decided that Share's physical presence was not enough. The decision of the District Court is contrary to the law, conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>Scripto</u> and must be reversed.

⁴/ <u>See. e.g.</u>, <u>Goldberg v. Sweet</u>, 488 U.S. 252 (1988); <u>Western Live Stock v.</u> <u>Bureau</u>, 303 U.S. 250, 254 (1938).



STATEMENT OF THE CASE

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case involves the intimate interplay of two commercial entities, both owned by the same person. Parker Chiropractic Resource Foundation ("PCRF") is a Texas corporation owned by Dr. James W. Parker. (R:157). PCRF began conducting educational seminars in 1951. (R:107) PCRF's seminars usually last three (3) days beginning on Thursday and ending on Sunday. (R:157, 170) Speakers are brought in to address the attending chiropractors. (R:158)

Share is a Texas corporation (R: 80) incorporated in 1961 and owned by Dr. James Parker and his son, Dr. William Karl Parker. (R:153) Share engages in the business of the manufacture, distribution and sale of chiropractic supplies to chiropractic physicians. (R:80) The majority of these products are paper goods. (R: 152-153, 158-159) Share's principal place of business is Forth Worth, Texas. (R: 80, 152, 153) Share voluntarily registered with the Department to do business in the State of Florida and submitted reports of its sales in and to residents of Florida. (R: 81, 193).

The only employee of Share is Dr. James Parker. (R:153). Other than Dr. Parker, Share has no other employees. (R:153). Share contracted with PCRF to have PCRF's employees display, sell, receive cash and take orders for Share, paying PCRF an administrative fee. (R:154) PCRF would send approximately 10-12 of its employees to the annual seminar in Florida to assist Share, among other things, in offering, selling and filling of orders of Share's products. (R: 180-184) PCRF's employees did participate in the solicitation and sale of Share's products in Florida (R:170-171)

During PCRF's educational seminars⁵/, Share conducted its sales scheme in

Florida in the following manner:

- a. Share sent representatives, PCRF's employees, authorized to sell Share's products into Florida (R:81);
- Share sent some of Share's samples and unsold merchandise into Florida to display for immediate sale and sales orders for future delivery (R:183-184);
- c. Share offered and permitted Share's products to be sold in the state.
 (R:183-184) Share collected Florida sales taxes on Share's products sold and delivered to the purchaser in the State (R: 81, 163, 164);
- d. Share's representatives took orders for some of Share's products, physically offered for sale in Florida, which Share then shipped from its Texas headquarters to the Florida customer. No sales taxes were collected on these sales. (R: 81); and
- e. Share directly sold products from its offices in Texas. Orders were sent from the Florida customer to Share either through the mail, telephone or common carrier (R: 81).

During other times of the year Share contacted its Florida customers by mail. During

the audit period, Share voluntarily continued its contact with Florida customers by

mailing one catalog, one supplement and approximately 15 fliers to its Florida

customers. (R:155)

Share would send the goods into Florida to be displayed at the same time and at

the same place as the PCRF seminars. (R: 81, 183-185). Share would send a

minimum of 500 different items for sale and up to 1000 items for display and sale. (R:

184-185). Share's inventory would be placed in a room on long tables for display. (R:



5/

PCRF conducted seminars all over the United States. (R:157).

183-184). The doctors would then roam, as in K-Mart, through the aisles and select from Share's offerings. (R: 184). After selection, the doctor would take the items to the cash registers manned by the up to 12 PCRF employees and pay for the items. (R: 184). Any unsold items would be returned to Texas. (R:188). For out-of-stock items or display items, the PCRF employees would take orders for future delivery. (R: 185-186).

Share filed with the Department DR-15's recording Share's sales of its products in Florida. Each of the recorded sales were made over a three (3) day period each November during Parker's seminars (R:) The record of sales shows the following amounts of taxable sales and taxes collected during the audit period ⁶/:

November, 1986:	\$195,860.80	\$9,793.04
November, 1987	\$150,951.80	\$7,547.59
November, 1988	\$118,263.50	\$7,095.81
November, 1989	\$116,491.50	\$6,989.49

(R: 81). Each of the above-stated amounts of <u>direct</u> Florida sales, made during a 3 day period each November. Of the approximately \$3 million in annual sales (R:156), the Florida sales amounted to approximately 4.6% of Share's *total* annual sales. (R:106). These above stated amounts did not include separate mail order sales to Florida residents.

Thus, Share, with full knowledge and intent, voluntarily exploited Florida's commercial market for Share economic benefit and gain. (R: 180-184) While Share's

⁶/ Share also physically returned to Florida in 1991 at a similar seminar. (R: 163, 164).

employees and/or representatives, including employees of PCRF, were physically in the State of Florida, Share displayed its samples and goods, Share took orders for final sales of its products, and from Share's samples and catalogs that were physically in Florida, took sales orders from the attendees physically present (chiropractic doctors) in Florida at the time the orders were taken. (R: 180-184)

In summation, the course of Share's business dealings resulted in the following tax situations: a) Share assessed, collected and remitted sales taxes on sales Share made in Florida where Share then immediately delivered the products to the purchaser; b) Share did not always collect Florida sales taxes on sales or orders made while physically in Florida but delivered by mail or common carrier at a later date to Florida purchasers (R: 185-186); and c) Share did not collect Florida sales taxes on post-presence sales or orders made by telephone or mail from residents in Florida but delivered by mail or concern's Share's collection responsibilities for situations b) and c).

COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW

In November, 1990, the Department conducted an audit of Share's records in Texas. The audit covered the period December 1, 1985 though November 30, 1990. (R: 81) The Department discovered that Share had not collected and remitted to the Department the sales and use taxes that should have been applied to sales and orders taken in Florida for later delivery and to mail order/direct sales made to Florida residents. (R: 5) The Department decided that Share had "substantial nexus" with Florida because Share was physically present in Florida in 1986, 1987, 1988, 1989, and 1991 through employees and/or representatives and unsold merchandise; made sales and deliveries of Share's merchandise in Florida; made sales and took orders in Florida for later delivery to Florida; and made direct mail-order sales to Florida residents by mail. (R: 14)

The Department issued a final assessment, in the amount of \$77, 933.98, finding that Share had the duty to collect the Florida sales tax on sales to Florida residents pursuant to Section 212.0596(2)(b) and (c), Florida Statutes. (R: 10) Share timely filed a protest to the assessment. (R: 5) The Department issued a Notice of Decision with respect to Share's protest on January 24, 1992. (R: 10) Share timely filed a protest to the Notice of Decision, requesting reconsideration of the Department's decision. (R: 6, 22) The Department issued a Notice of Reconsideration with respect to Share's request for reconsideration on May 15, 1992. The Department upheld the assessment in toto. (R: 6, 22)

Share timely filed its Complaint in the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Leon County, on July 13, 1992. (R: 1-19) Share's underlying complaint was that the Department's assessment was in violation of the Commerce Clause⁷/ to the United

(continued...)

⁷/ The primary case that delineates a state's power to impose a tax upon a business' activities in a state is <u>Complete Auto Transit, Inc. v. Brady</u>, 430 U.S. 274 (1977). This case outlines the limits of state taxation of business activities taking place in interstate commerce. In <u>Complete Auto</u>, the Court specifically set out a four-prong test for the states to use in determining their present or future taxes on interstate commerce constitutional. The Court held that a state tax would be sustained against a Commerce Clause challenge if the tax is:

^{1.} applied to an activity with a substantial nexus with the taxing state;

^{2.} is fairly apportioned;

States Constitution in that Share did not have "substantial nexus" ⁸/ with Florida allowing Florida to impose a sales tax collection duty on Share in accordance with the then recently decided United States Supreme Court decision of <u>Quill Corporation v.</u> <u>North Dakota</u>, U.S. ___, 112 S.Ct. 1904 (1992).

Stipulation to the majority of the facts was reached on October 1, 1993, and entered into the record. (R: 45). Share stipulated that it had in fact physically entered Florida with its employees/representatives; brought samples and unsold goods to Florida; sold and delivered goods in Florida; took orders in Florida for later delivery; and later engaged in mail-order sales with Florida residents. Trial was held in the matter in Tallahassee on October 10, 1993. (R: 51) The testimony of Mr. Parker supplied the

3. does not discriminate against interstate commerce; and

4. is fairly related to the services provided by the State.

Id., 430 U.S. at 279. (Continued on next page)

This Court expressly adopted the <u>Complete Auto</u> test in <u>Delta Air Lines</u>, Inc. v. <u>Department of Revenue</u>, 455 So. 2d 317 (Fla. 1984), citing the four prongs of the <u>Complete Auto</u> test as the test that was to apply. <u>Id.</u>, at 319. The Court again cited to <u>Complete Auto</u> in <u>Miller v. Publiker Industries</u>, Inc., 457 So. 2d 1374 (Fla. 1984).

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