OPJ

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, a State Agency, and J. THOMAS HERNDON, Executive Director of the Department of Revenue, State of Florida,

Petitioners,

vs.

SHARE INTERNATIONAL, INC.,

Respondent.

FILED
SID J. WHITE
DEC 8 1995

CLERK, SUPREME GOURT
By
Chief Depairs Clerk

CASE NO. 86,481

Appeal from the 1st District Court of Appeals
In and for the State of Florida

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Thomas E. Scott, Esq.
Lisa R. Daugherty, Esq.
DAVIS, SCOTT, WEBER & EDWARDS
2 South Biscayne Blvd.
One Biscayne Tower, Ste. 1500
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 375-8400

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- 1. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT SHARE'S PRESENCE IN THE STATE OF FLORIDA AT AN ANNUAL SEMINAR IS NOT ENOUGH TO CONSTITUTE A "SUBSTANTIAL NEXUS" SO AS TO ALLOW THE IMPOSITION OF TAXES AGAINST ALL FUTURE MAIL ORDER SALES MADE TO RESIDENTS WITHIN THE STATE?
 - A. Must A Non-Resident Vendor Have a Substantial Nexus With the Taxing State Before the Non-Resident Will be Required to Collect and Remit Taxes on Sales Made to Residents Within the State?
 - B. Does Share's Presence in the State of Florida For Approximately Three Days Each Year Create a Substantial Nexus to Support the Assessment of Taxes Against its Future Mail Order Sales Made to Residents Within the State?
- 2. IN THE EVENT THAT THIS COURT DISAGREES WITH THE LOWER COURTS THAT THERE WAS NO SUBSTANTIAL NEXUS, WHETHER EACH MONTH IS A SEPARATE TAX PERIOD FOR PURPOSES OF DETERMINING WHETHER THERE HAS BEEN A "SUBSTANTIAL NEXUS" SO AS TO ALLOW FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF TAXES?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case is before this Court on a question certified by the First District Court of Appeal as a matter of great public importance:

Whether, under the facts of this case, "substantial nexus" within the meaning set forth by the United States Supreme Court in Quill Corporation v. North Dakota, 504 U.S. 298 (1992), and National Bellas Hess, Inc. v. Department of Revenue of Illinois, 386 U.S. 753 (1967), exists which would permit Florida to require Share to collect sales and use taxes on all goods sold to Florida residents?

The appellate court certified the question in its decision dated August 21, 1995 affirming the trial court's final judgment which held that the Department's tax assessment against Share's mail order sales was unconstitutional as violative of the United States Commerce Clause (R-106-116). Florida Dept. of Revenue v. Share International, Inc., 20 Fla.L. Weekly D1911 (Fla. 1st DCA Aug. 21, The initial case arose when the Department conducted an 1995). audit of Share's books and records and wrongfully concluded that Share's annual presence in Florida for approximately three days during the years 1986 through 1989 constituted sufficient presence to tax all future mail order sales made by Share to residents within the State (R-47). The Department thereafter issued a tax assessment against Share in the amount of \$77,933.98, which precipitated the filing of an action by Share seeking declaratory relief that the assessment was unconstitutional (R-47).

A. Factual Background

The Respondent Share is a Texas corporation which engages in the business of manufacturing and distributing chiropractic supplies consisting primarily of business forms and educational materials (R-159-160). Share is a small, privately owned company incorporated in 1961 whose sole shareholders are Dr. James William Parker and his son, Dr. William Karl Parker (R-153-199). Dr. James Parker is also the President of Share, and Dr. Karl Parker is the Executive Vice President of the corporation (R-153-154). The only other officer of the corporation is Doris Schrepel, who is the secretary (Id.). Share has one paid employee, Dr. James Parker (R-154).

Share sells its products primarily through direct mail solicitation from its offices in Ft. Worth, Texas (R-153). Share has no offices, agents, officers or employees in the State of Florida, or in any other state (<u>Id.</u>). In order to facilitate the sale of its products, Share mails product catalogs to doctors and other health care entities on a periodic basis (R-155). Share also mails occasional fliers to its customers (R-155). During the period from December 1985 through November, 1990, Share mailed only one catalog to its customers, and approximately 12 fliers (<u>Id.</u>) Share does not utilize telemarketing or direct advertising to sell its products (R-208-209). The names of the doctors and health care entities which receive the catalogs are obtained by Share from various medical associations and from mailing lists purchased from many different sources (R-155-156). The vast majority of Share's

sales of its products are made through utilization of its catalog, and made directly through the mail solicitation process (R-156). The doctors and health care entities which purchase Share's products through the mail are located throughout the United States, including the State of Florida, as well as Canada, Mexico, Europe and Australia (R-155).

A small amount, or approximately four (4%) percent, of Share's sales each year result from products sold directly to physicians and doctors at seminars held in the State of Florida $^{1/}$ (R-158). The seminars are held and conducted by the Parker Chiropractic Resource Foundation ("the Parker Foundation"), a corporation whose sole shareholder and President is Dr. James W. Parker (R-157). Dr. Karl W. Parker is Vice President of the Parker Foundation (Id.). The Parker Foundation was formed in 1951 for the purpose of providing chiropractic doctors with educational information to assist them in better managing their practice (R-157-158; R-199). The Foundation is also a Texas corporation which conducts its business out of its offices in Fort Worth, Texas (R-157). Parker Foundation has no employees, offices or agents in any other state, including Florida (R-157, R-182). Although operated by the same individuals, the Parker Foundation and Share are legally separate corporations which perform separate functions (R-199).

 $^{^{1/}}$ Share's annual gross sales average close to \$3,000,000 per year (R-156). During 1986 through 1989, Share's gross sales were approximately \$13 million (R-173). During these same years, only 4.6% of Share's gross sales, or \$600,000.00, was attributable to products sold at the seminars (R-174).

During the years 1986, 1987, 1988 and 1989, the Parker Foundation held seminars in the State of Florida (hereinafter referred to as "the seminars") during the month of November (R-81). The State of Florida was chosen as the site for the seminars because of its warm climate which assisted the Foundation in attracting doctors from its target market in the Northeast (R-165). In fact, most of the attendees at the seminar during the years 1986-1989, or approximately 80% to 90%, were from states other than Florida (R-165-169). The seminars were conducted by Dr. James W. Parker. Dr. Karl Parker was also present at most of the seminars. No other employees or officers of Share were present within the State of Florida during the seminars.

The seminars conducted by the Parker Foundation would last approximately three (3) days, beginning on Thursday evening and ending on Sunday afternoon (R-157). The doctors and physicians in attendance at the seminars were from various states throughout the country, and had pre-registered pursuant to seminar brochures previously mailed out (R-188-190). The seminars were geared toward educating the physicians by providing them with practical chiropractic information that they could utilize in their The seminars featured many well-known chiropractors, practices. and offered classes on a variety of different subjects or topics (R-158-159). As part of the seminar, the Parker Foundation also offered for sale the chiropractic supplies and products manufactured by Share (R-156, R-170) These products and supplies were displayed in a separate room close to the classrooms, and

would be frequented by the doctors on an unsolicited basis throughout their stay at the seminar (R-170). No sales agents or employees of Share were present at the seminars to sell the products or solicit sales (R-170-171). Instead, the products were merely displayed on shelves or tables, with Parker Foundation employees operating cash registers to facilitate the transactions (R-170-171). Share paid the Parker Foundation an annual administrative fee for providing the services of these employees at the seminar, as well as other miscellaneous services that were performed throughout the year (R-154). The employees of Parker were paid on an hourly basis, and the wages earned by them were in no way connected to the amount of sales made at the seminar (R-109).

Many of the chiropractors present at the seminars in Florida were long-standing customers of Share, and had been purchasing products from Share for years through the catalog (R-188-190). Additionally, many of the chiropractors bought their annual supply of Share products while at the seminars (R-156). In fact, the products were displayed at the seminars as a service to the doctors so that they would not have to deal with the mail order process (R-156).

In 1986, \$195,860.80 in products were sold at the seminars (R-81). In 1987, \$150,951.80 in products were sold each year (<u>Id</u>.). In 1988, \$118,263.50 were sold, and in 1989, \$116,491.50 in products were sold (<u>Id</u>.). Share registered with the Department, and collected and paid taxes to the State of Florida for all of its

products sold during these years at the seminars (<u>Id.</u>). The taxes were paid by filing a monthly tax return with the State of Florida for November of each year in which a seminar was held in Florida (R-196). No seminar was held by the Parker Foundation in the State of Florida during the year 1990 (R-178). Share also did not display its products in the State during the year 1990 (<u>Id.</u>).

In November of 1990, the Appellant conducted an internal audit of Share's operations (R-82). The audit covered the period from December 1, 1985 through November 30, 1990 (<u>Id.</u>). During the audit, the Department found that Share had been selling through the mail its products to Florida residents and that sales tax was not being collected and paid on these sales. After the audit was concluded, the Department issued a tax assessment to Share in the amount of \$77,933.98 for sales and use tax, plus interest and penalties (R-82). The assessment amount was calculated by the Department based on the additional sales made to Florida physicians through mail solicitation during the five years at issue. A formal protest was filed by Share, but the assessment was affirmed (<u>Id</u>.). Share thereafter filed its action for declaratory relief seeking to have the assessment declared unconstitutional.

B. Proceedings Below

A trial was conducted before the lower court whereat testimony of Dr. Karl Parker was presented on behalf of Share (R-33). The court, after hearing the testimony and argument of the parties, agreed with Share and held the assessment to be unconstitutional (R-105-116). Specifically, the lower court held that the display

of Share's products during three days at a seminar in Florida is not enough to create a "substantial nexus" so as to allow the imposition of a sales tax against all future mail order sales made within the State (R-112; P-App-2-8). This conclusion was based upon the lower court's finding that Share had no offices in the State of Florida, or any employees or agents permanently residing within the State to continuously assist in the mail order sales (R-112; P-App-2-8). The trial court further found that the Parkers had come to the seminars each year to educate chiropractors, and to promote Share's products to these doctors (R-112; P-App-2-27). Because the doctors came from many different states, the trial court also found that the Parkers were not present at the seminars to solicit sales from Florida residents or doctors (R-115; P-App-3-Moreover, the lower court concluded that the Parker 27). Foundation employees who assisted Share at the seminars merely collected money from paying customers and did nothing to further Share's market presence within the State or solicit further customers while in the State (R-114; P-App-2-10). Thus, based on all of these findings, the Court held that the tax assessment in the amount of \$77,933.98 constituted an undue burden on interstate commerce and was therefore unconstitutional (R-115; P-App-2-11). The Department appealed the lower court's judgment.

The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the lower court's decision (P-App-3). The appellate court's decision resulted from its correct interpretation of the various Supreme Court decisions, including Quill Corp. v. North Dakota, 504 U.S. 298, 112 S.Ct.

1904, 119 L.Ed.2d 91 (1992), which in combination hold that a state's authority to tax a non-resident vendor's sales within the state require some type of "continuing presence in the state" for the purpose of solicitation of sales

(P-App-3-4-9). The appellate court, relying on the factual findings of the trial court, found that Share's brief presence at the seminars was not for the purpose of creating a customer base in Florida or exploiting the consumer market in that state (P-App-3-9). Therefore, the appellate court concluded that Share did not have a "substantial nexus" with the State of Florida so as to require it to collect and remit taxes to the Department on the mail-order sales made to Florida residents, and affirmed the decision of the trial court (P-App-3-10). In doing so, however, the District Court of Appeal also felt that the issues raised in this action are of great public importance and certified the question to be answered by this Court (P-App-3-11-12). The instant appeal resulted.²/

The Department also invokes the jurisdiction of this Court based upon Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii) and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The appellate court properly affirmed the trial court's judgment declaring as unconstitutional the Department's tax assessment against Share for sales made by direct mail solicitation to residents within Florida. Both decisions below were based upon the courts' interpretation of the recent United States Supreme Court decision in Ouill Corp. v. North Dakota By and Through Heitkamp, 504 U.S. 298. The Quill case holds that a state's power to tax a non-resident vendor requires that the non-resident have a "substantial nexus" with the taxing state, or a continuing presence within the state for the purpose of soliciting the residents Share's presence within the State of Florida for therein. approximately three (3) days each year at a seminar does not create a "substantial nexus" with the State so as to allow the imposition of such taxes by the Department on all future mail order sales made to residents within Florida. First and foremost, as the trial court properly found, Share was not present within the State of Florida for the purpose of exploiting its consumer market. Rather, the seminars at which Share's products were displayed and sold were attended by doctors primarily from the Northeast who had been longstanding customers of the company. Moreover, the brief presence of Share's officers and its products at the seminars is not the type of continuing presence which satisfies the substantial nexus doctrine established by the case law. Therefore, the appellate court properly affirmed the lower court's decision holding the Department's tax assessment against Share as unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeal properly affirmed the trial court's judgment finding the Department's tax assessment unconstitutional because the facts of this case reflect that Share does not have a "substantial nexus" with the State of Florida. Under the law, a "substantial nexus" exists if the non-resident vendor has a continuing presence within the taxing state and is actively soliciting its residents. The trial court factually determined that Share was not present in the State of Florida for the purpose of soliciting its residents or to exploit the Florida market. Moreover, the presence of Share's officers and products within the State for three days at a seminar is not the continuing presence required under the law. Thus, the appellate court's decision affirming the trial court's judgment should be upheld.

I. THE APPELLATE COURT PROPERLY AFFIRMED THE TRIAL COURT'S JUDGMENT DECLARING UNCONSTITUTIONAL THE DEPARTMENT'S ASSESSMENT OF TAXES AGAINST SHARE'S MAIL ORDER SALES TO FLORIDA RESIDENTS AS VIOLATIVE OF THE COMMERCE CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION

The Supreme Court of the United States has recently declared that a non-resident vendor must have a "substantial nexus" with a taxing state before a tax may be imposed upon its sales made to residents within the taxing state. A "substantial nexus" exists if the non-resident vendor has a continuing presence within the taxing state and is actively soliciting its residents. The lower court determined that Share was not in the State of Florida to exploit the commercial market or its residents. In addition, the presence of Share's officers and products for three days was "slight" and

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